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Not everything that history offers us
has actually happened, and what has
actually happened has not happened
the way it is presented, and what we
know to have happened is only a very
small part of what actually happened.
—GokTHE.
... Sola rei indignitas me mouit, cum,
ut pleraque alia, optimum principem
peruerso ordine inter pessimos nume-
rarent.
—GEROLAMO CARDANO,
Encomium Neronis.

NG 4Go, in his Tacitus and other Roman

studics, Gaston Boissier spotlighted
the historian’s propensity to seli-contra-
diction (Hutchinson’s trans., 1906, p. 62).
But the example which astonishes us most
by the completeness of the contradiction,
and from which the most momentous con-
sequences have flowed, the French scholar
does not include in his discussion. In An-
nals XIV Tacitus gives us an account of
the events leading to the sudden extinction
of Nero's mother Agrippina, an_account
highly dramatic and circumstantial, and so
detailed that even in his terse language it
extends from the first to the tenth chapter;
then, tucked away in a modest dozen lines,
he presents as if it were a mere appendix
Nero's official report to the Senate, fofo
caelo remote from what we have just been
told and yet, as chapters 12 and 13 make
clear, accepted by all classes of Roman
society and never, apparently, questioned
for years afterwards. The jejune and per-
functory style of Tacitus’ précis of this

letter reflects his disgust at having to in-
clude the thing at all, but a dispassionate
examination of its contents reveals no
ground for surprise at the approval of the
contemporary public, rather for suspicion
at the attitude of the later historian. Nero
asserts that Agrippina sent a libertus named
Agerinus to assassinate him and, when the
coup failed, committed suicide conscientia
quasi scelus_parauisset. He reminds the
Senate that from the day of her marriage
with Claudius she had attempted to rule the
Roman Empire and suggests that the hand
of God was visible in her shipwreck. “Who
so foolish as to belicve that this was a
‘mere accident, this o her idea of sending a
lone assassin to penetrate the imperial
bodyguardz” (This sentence, 11.4-5, is
misunderstood by Church and Brodribb, by
Grant, and by Woodcock, who all fail to see
that quod and the phrase unum missum
esse are both subjects of fuisse, fortuitum
being the common complement.) In the
moralizing tone of this epistle Tacitus
(11.6) detects the hand of Seneca and avers
that the writing of it brought the philoso-
pher into disfavor. He does not say how-
ever when or in the eyes of whom Seneca
was aduerso rumore, and the junketings he
describes in the next two chapters lend
scant support to the notion that the régime
was in disrepute. The general impression is
of Nero, the darling of Heaven, accorded a
hero's welcome by his grateful people after
being delivered from the plots of a woman
maddened by fubris and by ate.

‘This letter is the only contemporary doc-
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ument cited by our historian, but it is the
sensational novelette that precedes it, based
on no contemporary record at all, which has
passed into history; so much so that, to
take one of a thousand examples, when
‘Hamlet i repelling the idea of matricide he
can find no more apt way of formulating
his thought than . .. let not ever The soul
of Nero enter this firm bosom” (3.2.396 1.
Admittedly the novelette is an admirable
piece of writing. That moonlit bay of
Baiae, the terror of the disintegrating boat,
Agrippina’s nocturnal swim, the horrific
murder in the villa at Bauli, the ghostly
trumpet-calls, all blend into a scene of
nightmarish horror, like something out of
Dante or Poe, a study in the macabre which
Tacitus, praised by Racine as un peinire
and by Napoleon as a creator of fableau,
never surpassed. But mere aesthetic con-
siderations should not blind us to the sober-
ing fact that these haunting pages, from
beginning to end, are a farrago of lies and
absurdities. Tacitean chicanery envelops us
in the very first chapter, dealing with the
events of carly 50 AD. Poppaea, urging
Nero to marry her, pleads her fecunditas.
A common enough situation, a ruler with
a barren wife, turning to another woman for
an heir. It was in fact Nero’s situation:
his wife Octavia had not in several years of
marriage given him a child, whereas his
mistress Poppaea was pregnant by him.
But it was not Nero’s situation in the year
59: it was Nero’s situation in late 62.
There is no doubt about this. Not only
does Tacitus record the birth of Poppaea’s
child among the events of the consulship
of Memmius Regulus and Verginius Rufus,
ie, 63 AD. (15 Ann. 23.1) but also an
inscription of the Fratres Arvales acts as a
crossbearing, dating the happy event to 21
January (dct. Aro, Henzen, 1xxvimm).
Why then does Tacitus put into Poppaea’s
mouth in 50 an argument which was not in
fact valid until three years later? Because
Agrippina died in early 59, Poppaea must
therefore be her enemy in early 59, hence
sibi matrimonium of discidium Octaviae in-
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columi Agrippina haud sperans (1.1), and
then the weak and sensual Nero is equipped
with a motive for matricide. Our historian
shrewdly suspected that his public would
not go rummaging among the records of the
Fratres Arvales merely to pick holes in th
favorite novelist’s plot, and the experience
of close on two thousand years has proved
how sound his instinct was.

As the narrative unfolds, the small class
of readers who wish to be enlightened rather
than titillated find their bewilderment deep-
ening. What exactly was the collapsible
boat supposed to do? When we first hear
of it, its lex operandi is to discharge Agrip-
pina into the water: cuius pars ipso in
‘mari per artem soluta ccjunderet ignaram
(Le.3.7). But as the events of 5.5 demon-
strate, Agrippina was a powerful swimmer.
Why then did Nero approve of this clumsy
and dangerous way of dispatching his
mother? We are expressly told that it was
his choice: placuit sollertia (4.1). Could
So unusual a vessel have been built and
Taunched and sailed to Baiae without talk,
and would such talk have failed to reach
Agrippina, who had spies everywhere?
When the ship is in the middle of the bay,
we hear of an entirely new lethal device,
totally unlike the blueprint approved by
Nero. The ceiling of Agrippina’s cabin,
weighted with lead, crashes down on her
bed and she is only saved by the high
sides of that article of furniture (5.2)
Suetonius at Nero 34 also lists a collapsing
ceiling among Nero’s unsuccessful devices
for matricide, but he locates the incident
in a different milieu, Agrippina’s riverside
estate at Rome, far from the waters of
Baiae. It s clear that our historians are in
possession of a Neronianum, some complex
involving calm water and a descending
roof, and later on we shall hazard a guess
as to what this was. At the moment how-
ever we shall content ourselves with noting
their unscrupulousness, how lightly they
play variations on the theme, and shift it
about in time and space, agreeing only in
their use of it to make the charge of matri-
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cide stick, Tacitus’ narrative now becomes
wilder than ever. The crashing ceiling fails
to kill Agrippina but it does do away with
Crepereius Gallus (5.2). Crepereius Gal-
lus? Only 2 moment ago we have been told
that this gentleman haud_procul guber-
naculis adstabat, Were ancient tillers nor-
mally inside roofed cabins, jammed next to
beds? It is hard to see how a mass that
descended on Agrippina’s couch slew Gal-
lus, unless the gallant companion had inter-
preted his duties too literally and moved
into his mistress’s bed, in which case things
must have been uncomfortably crowded
because the lady-companion Acerronia was
packed in the same bunk, super pedes
cubitantis rectinis. Dazed as the reader is
by now, he is in no fit state to receive the
impact of the next sentence, which coolly
informs him that the collapse of the cabin-
roof was not followed, as planned, by the
So not only was the roof
meant to cave in but also the entire vessel,
not simply a detachable part as at 3.7. Was
the plan first to flatten Agrippina under
the leaden sheet and then to sink her
beneath it to the bottom of the bay and
simultancously drown all the crew as incon-
venient witnesses? Hardly, because we are
specifically told in sentences 3 and 4 that
half the crew were ot in the plot, and
that when those who were deliberately tried
to capsize the boat, the ignorant ones foiled
them by rushing to the other side. Consid-
ering the Romans’ peculiar horror of
drowning, it is remarkable that so many
men should have been willing to precipitate
themselves into the deep sea at night,
merely to gratify their prince’s matricidal
impulses; remarkable too that professional
sailors whom experience would teach some-
thing about the buoyancy of wooden ves-
sels, even without a course in Archimedean
hydrostatics, should have deemed it possible
to upset a trireme-sized vessel by such
procedures. Tt is clear that Tacitus, relying
on a scientific analphabetism in his public
equal to his own, is exercising his novelist’s
fancy. His implausibility is ubiquitous.
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When his improbable sailors do get Agrip-
pina in the water they try to finish her off
with naval implements (5.5). But if they
were prepared to bludgeon her openly be-
fore neutral onlookers, why go to the
trouble of constructing a nauigium machi-
nosum in the first place? What kind of
a story would the innocent passengers tell
when they landed? Did the conscii butcher
the ignari after what they had seen? Taci-
tus does not say so. An archvillian of choic-
est vintage—and as such he presents Nero
—would surely have masterminded a more
professional piece of skulduggery than this.

Why did Nero have the conjurer’s-trick
vessel built at all? Because, says Tacitus
(3.2-5) ferrum: et caedes was too open (as
if the method actually used were not open! )
and because uenenum had already been
used to dispatch Britannicus. Has he for-
gotten that according to his own account
(13 Ann. 66 £.) Nero and his mother em-
ployed poison to get rid of Claudius?! If
Nero were so sensitive about repeat-per-
formances, it was illogical to vary his
method between the second and third vic-
tim and not between the first and second.
Nero's desire for elegant variation in
murder would appear to have operated
spasmodically, for there is little difference
between the killing of Sulla at 14 An. 57.5
and of Plautus (59.3) or between that of
Octavia at 14 Ann. 64.3 and of Seneca at
1S Ann. 64.4 1., taking Tacitus’ own word
for them all. Unfortunate for Tacitus also
is the fact that our other main witness,
Suetonius, asserts that Nero tried to
poison his mother no less than three times:
Nero 34. What a pity the anti-Neronians
did not get together and at least make their
lies consistent|

* Agrippina is here the chief poisoner; but after
her death, when the anti-Neronians had to beatify
her—at Octauia 952, indeed, she is a candidate for
apotheosis—the “crime” becomes Nero's; as at
Suet. Nero 39, where the comedian Datus, by
gestures, equates the murder of Claudius bibens
with that of Agrippina ratans. Unhappily for our
fabricators, the word bibens does not fit the
‘mushroom-story.
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Consider further the timing. According
to Tacitus (14 Ann. 4.1 f.) Nero ‘enticed’
his mother to Baiae to celebrate the Quin-
quatrus Mineruae (19 March). She em-
barked on the diabolical vessel after a pro-
tracted banquet, say at 1 A, on 20 March.
‘There ensues the phantasmagoria of horrors
—dissolution of boat—escape from mur-
der by swimming—rescue and conveyance
to Bauli—review of situation, composition
of letter, dispatch of Agerinus—Nero’s
framing of Agerinus—summoning of ad-
visers to privy council—dispatch of Anice-
tus to Bauli with nautical hoodlums—
murder of Agrippina—her cremation nocte
eadem (9.2)—and still time for Nero to
have a bad attack of conscience religuo
noctis (10.2). A crowded timetable, indeed,
especially when we remember that from
Baiae to Bauli is an hour’s journey by
trotting horse and this was traversed by
both Agerinus and Anicetus, neither de-
scribed as mounted. Nor are we taking
into account the macabre detail (9.1, elab-
orated at Suet. Nero 34) about Nero's
necrophilic appraisal of his mother’s
charms. How did he appear on the scene?
He is not stated to have accompanied
Anicetus.

Every time we look at the Tacitean
novelette we seem to find a fresh incon-
gruity. When we first hear of the collaps-
ible boat it is at Bauli (4.5). But aiter
the banquet it has mysteriously appeared
at the quayside at Baiae, ready for Agrip-
pina to step on board (49). It could
perhaps have been sailed along the coast
during the feast; but Agrippina had already
been informed of its sinister character by a
proditor, hence had gone overland from
Bauli to Baiac by litter. Why then did she
embark on the diabolical contraption to
return? And would she really have ac-
cepted Nero’s invitation to a banquet after
just being told that he had constructed a
devilish machine to drown her? Would she
not rather have returned hotfoot to Rome
and the comparative safety of her senatorial
friends? It is strange too, since the nauis
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omatior was awaiting her at Bauli, that she
landed at Baiae (43). Nero surely dis-
posed of sufficient agents to arrange a
better itinerary than this, especially when
everything hinged on the voyage in the
mechanical boat.

‘Then what about Agrippina’s supporters?
We hear of seruitia whom she might arm
and other potential allies at 7.2. Burrus at
the nocturnal privy council stresses  the
loyalty of the Practorian Guards to the
daughter of Germanicus (7.6). The sea-
shore near her villa at Bauli was swarming
with admirers who had gathered to congrat-
ulate the Queen Mother on her escape
from drowning (8.1 £.). Why then did no
one It a finger in her defense when Anice-
tus and his naval party (not apparently a
large one) clattered into Bauli? There was
a camp of Praetorians nearby who would
presumably supply a permanent bodyguard,
there was the crowd of sympathizers, there
was Agrippina’s own staf. And yet Anice-
tus had no trouble at all. He walked in
with two companions and brutally struck
her down (8.6 .). At 8.9 we were told that
Nero, on arresting Agerinus as an “assas-
sin,” planned to slay his mother and publish
her death abroad as a suicide pudore dep-
rehensi sceleris. Tt was essential to the suc-
cess of such a scheme that Agrippina be
dispatched secretly; but nothing could have
been more public than the procedure of
Anicetus: see 8.3 to 9.2 (It is the same
with the anti-Neronian account of the death
of Britannicus [13 Amn. 15-17]. After
‘making Locusta prepare a poison in utmost
secrecy Nero has the potent venom admin-
istered to Britannicus at a fashionable ban-
quet so that the boy turns black in the
face and drops dead before a hundred
witnesses. The cyanosis points clearly
enough to death by tetanoid epilepsy, as
Nero himself diagnosed* but so Circean is

o poison turns the face black, except possibly
strychnine, unknown to the ancients. Medical ig-
norance frequently made the old writers atribute
death to the wrong causes. The younger Pliny
Cearly believed that his uncle was suffocated
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Tacitus’ pen and so sheeplike the copying
of historians that even a Racine could fall
for the legend of Nero the monster and no
piece of “history” is more fervently be-
lieved in to this day.)

Decper analysis of the matricide-story
would doubtless disclose more flaws but
enough has been said, we feel, to discredit
it as evidence. Seldom indeed can so Gil-
bertian a yarn have been used to support
50 atrocious an indictment. If we want the
truth our best policy is to collate this ver-
sion with that of Suetonius and of Dio
Cassius and see what facts will best account
for variants. From Suetonius Nero 34 we
gather that Agrippina sailed to Baiae in a
liburnica and that a trireme collided with
this and sank it somewhere near the coast.
Suetonius deduces that Nero ordered this
“accident” to be staged so that he could
substitute his collapsible boat for the sunk
liburnica; as if a captain detailed to ram
the boat would have it done at night or let
Agrippina swim away, as if a serving offi-
cer would have obeyed an order to kill
the Augusta, and as if a prince capable of
arranging so many simpler types of “acci-
dental” death would go to the trouble of
building a collapsible boat. The common
elements in the two narratives, freed from
the anti-Nero inferences, point to some such
sequence of events as this: on 17th or 18th
of March Agrippina sails to Baiae so as to
celebrate the feast of Minerva with Nero
on the 19th. As she approaches, her libur-
ica, by pure accident, is in collision with a
trireme. (Tacitus lets slip the accidental
nature of the occurrence when he says at
8.1 wolgato Agrippinae periculo quasi casu

by gases from the Vesuvius volcano; but why
were the slaves with him not similarly killed?
The old man had sailed to Stabiac for rescue
purposes but when he got there he went to bed
and snored. The next day he could not walk
without support. This looks like death from apo-
plexy, as the American physician Bigelow sug-
gested way back in 1858, Claudius died of the
same thing, Had the Elder Pliny been an Emperor,
what a story would have been woven round those
cups of cold water he asked for! See Pliny's
Letters 6.16, esp. lines 76-85.
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euenisset). The trireme crushes the stern
of the liburnica and with it Crepereius Gal-
lus standing near the helm. Agrippina and
Acerronia are flung into the water. Acer-
ronia is killed by the churning oars of the
trireme: Agrippina swims clear with only
a shoulder wound. It is dark; and the dark-
ness accounts both for the collision itself
and for the failure of the trireme’s crew to
Tocate and rescue her. She reaches the villa
at Bauli in the manner described by Tac-
itus, convalesces, and feels strong enough
to join Nero at Baiae as planned. She
travels in a litter partly because she is still
weak and partly because her boat has been
sunk. (More sensible this than Tacitus’
nonsense about a proditor.) But what does
she find at the banquet? Neither in Tac-
itus nor in Suetonius’ Nero do we find the
least hint that the banquet was for anybody
but Nero and his mother. But when we
turn to Suetonius’ Life of Otho something
in the nature of a bombshell explodes. T
quote Graves at 3.1: “As Nero’s confidant
[Otho] had a finger in all his schemes, and
on the day chosen by the Emperor for
murdering his own mother, threw everyone
off the scent by inviting them both to an
exceptionally elegant luncheon party.” So
Otho was present at the festivities at Baiae
on 19th March! We can be fairly sure we
are on to a fact here: Suetonius could have
no conceivable motive for inventing it if
it were not true, whereas both he and Tac-
itus had every reason for climinating Otho
when trying to frame Nero as a matricide.
Otho had been Nero's best friend, his com-
panion in the Mohock-like activities with
which the Roman Jeunesse dorée beguiled
the tedium of their evenings, and his rival
for the favours of Poppaea, which last
circumstance is held to have caused his
relegation as governor to Lusitania. After
the murder of Nero in June 68 Otho re-
turned and ruled for a few months as
princeps after Galba. He had always been
ambitious. Tn youthful banter with Nero
he had used expressions like “as surely as
you will see me Caesar” (Dio 61.11.1), he
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had sometimes outdone him in luxury, and
had discomfited him over Poppaea. (though
our sources vary here). When did this rival
£0 to Lusitania?

Suetonius says that he administered the
province per decem annos (Otho 4.1).
Nero fell on 9 June 68. This means that
Otho reached Lusitania in June 59. If he
was in Baiae on 19 March 59, he must have
departed for his province very soon after
that. Let us tabulate these facts:

SCENE 1. Baiae, evening, 19 March:
Nero celebrates feast of )
nerva with Otho and Agrippina.

scexe 1. Baiae, small hours, 20 March:
Agerinus, creature of Agrippina,
a few yards from Nero strug-
gles with Nero's guards, a sword
at his feet.

SCENE 1. Bauli, about an hour later:
Anicetus and a naval party oc-
cupy Agrippina’s villa; her
body cremated before dawn.

EPILOGUE.

For the remaining ten years of
Nero’s life Otho remains in Lu-
sitania:Agrippina is denied a
tomb (Tac. 14 Ann. 9.2).

It is clear that the ruin of Agrippina in-
volved the ruin of Otho. What can this
mean? Only that Agrippina and Otho had
plotted to get rid of Nero; Otho would be
proclaimed princeps and Agrippina would
rule the Empire through him as she had
once ruled it through the senile Claudius
and had expected to do through Nero, not
foreseeing Seneca’s opposition. Otho in fact
was the last of the potential consorts—
Britannicus, Faenius Rufus, and those men-
tioned at 13 Ann. 18-21 had been others—
on whom the roving eye of the matriarch
fell as she strove indefatigably to regain
her lost power. The point of the banquet—
here we detect the hand of Otho, Nero's
mentor in the arts of gracious living—was
to allay the prince’s suspicions of his
mother, and the artful pair do indeed seem
to have won his confidence. Both Tacitus
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and Suetonius agree about his affectionate
manner at the end of the evening. He al-
ways was something of the simpleton-prince,
not unlike King Ludwig of Bavaria with
his fairy castles (compare Nero's domus
aurea) and his passion for music, and as
Wagner to Ludwig, so to Nero were artists
like Lucan and Petronius. What precisely
Otho and Agrippina had intended to do
with him is uncertain. Not, probably, to
Kill him, in view of Otho's favorite taunt—
made probably as the understanding be-
tween him and Agrippina grew—“as surely
as you will see me Caesar.” They would
perhaps have banished him to an island,
where he could write poems and compose
songs while more competent people gov-
erned the Empire. One reason for believing
that murder was not envisaged is that when
the game went Nero’s way he contented
himself with exiling Otho. Whatever Plan
A was, it went wrong. Perhaps the unfore-
seen sinking of the liburnica disrupted com-
munications between agents in Baiae and
Rome. The sending of Agerinus was def-
initely an emergency measure. The fright-
ened woman, driven into a corner, staked
everything on the berserker’s attack, which
almost succeeded: Agerinus was stopped
only when within a yard of Nero’s person.
But the last fling having failed, the story
marches to its dénouement with the inev-
itability of a Greek tragedy. Nero now
knew the full, unbelievable, wickedness of
his mother. She whom he had once ador-
ingly called optima matrum now stood
revealed as a monster of powerlust, pre-
pared to swat him like a fly—yes, him,
her own son—when he became a nuisance.
Anagnorisis must be followed by peripeteia.
The least he could do was to arrest her and
keep her under military surveillance. The
news of her attempt had spread abroad.
That is why she was deserted. No member
of the Practorian Guard would help a trait-
ress; her action had released them from
their oath. When Anicetus reached Bauli,
the crowd he encountered were mere sight-
seers, attracted by rumors of a palace
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revolution, hence not hostile to him. He
entered the villa and found her dead body.
The proud daughter of Germanicus had
taken the course dictated by honor: she
had stabbed herself. Nero never forgave
her; she was meanly buried and received
no monument while he lived, conduct inex-
plicable in a generous man (compare his
treatment of the Pisonian conspirators)
except on the supposition that the very
heart and sanctuary of his love-feelings had
been blasted. Otho received the most leni-
ent possible treatment: he was sent to the
wild West with a challenging job which
gave him a chance to redeem himself. He
appears to have seized this chance: Lusi-
taniae pracficitur, says Tacitus, ubi usque
ad ciuilia arma non ex priore infamia sed
integre sancteque egit? Tt is the act of a
truly penitent man, a man expiating a
sin of which he was the more ashamed
because the victim had not exacted the
full and just retribution. During his short
spell as princeps he strove to revive Nero-
nian policies and was loved by humble folk,
like gladiators, as Nero had been. Martial
in his epitaph says that the self-slaying of
Otho, to spare the blood of his fellow cit-
izens, was more heroic than the works of
men like Cato or Caesar: sit Cato, dum
wiuit, sane uel Cacsare maior: [dum mori-
tur, numquid maior Othone fuit? (6.32).
He does not note however that this was
made possible by the clemency of Nero:
the editing of the record had begun with
Vespasian.

Assuming the above reconstruction to be
correct, we can now return to the anti-Nero
historians and watch them at their fell work.
of falsification. All mention of Otho at the

# Momigliano in the OCD is misleading here:
“Tradition reasonably represents him as an in-
capable and profligate man”: how does this fit
the integre sancteque egit of Tac. 13 Ann. 46 fin.
or Martial's epitaph? And on what is the slyly
inserted “reasonably” grounded? “He was sent
to Lusitania as Governor in 58": a flat denial of
two statements in Suetonius, without a scrap of
Justification,
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planned “last supper” of Nero is suppressed
and if Suetonius had not let it drop in an
unguarded sentence, when his mind was off
Nero, we should never have known about
it. The influence of Poppaea is antedated,
to provide Nero with a motive for liquidat-
ing his mother, and a plausible method of
assassination is invented. It is impossible
not to admire their skill here:  the nauigium
machinosum craftily associates Nero with
the famous tyrants of legend, who tended
to have novel and peculiar lethal devices,
Acetes and his firebreathing bulls, Sinis
and his bent-back pine trees, Procustes and
his elastic bed, Phalaris and his taurine
bronze oven. In the utilization of Agrip-
pina’s_historical shipwreck Suetonius has
the edge on Tacitus: his suggestion that
her liburnica was rammed so that the col-
lapsible boat could be substituted is less
ridiculous than his rival’s selfcontradic-
tions, but neither is sophisticated in
time-and-motion details, their skill lies in
suggestion. By highlighting the jealousies
over Poppaea and including this among the
events of Annals XIIT Tacitus manages to
get Otho to Portugal in 58, but he is contra-
dicted by Suetonius Otho 3.1 (the luncheon
party for Agrippina) and 4.1 (decem an-
nos); also his version of the Poppaca-tri-
angle at 13 Ann. 45 is quite difierent from
that at 1 Hist. 13. Tn any case a ten-years’
exile would have been a grotesquely dis-
proportionate vengeance to arise out of
love-tifis; divorce and remarriage were
commonplace in ancient Rome. Tiberius
for example had to sacrifice the one woman
he really loved for a dynastic marriage and
no one’s head rolled then. Plutarch says
that only Seneca’s intervention prevented
Otho’s execution. Execution—of a fellow-
Mohock because of a courtesan? Impossible.
It only fits if Otho’s crime were what T
have alleged,? and then Seneca’s arts might

A sure indication of Otho’s involvement is
that the pro-Agrippina_authors go out of their
way to deny it. Tac. 1 Hist. 22, Suct. Otho 4, and
Plutarch Galba 234, all emphasize that Otho
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well have been needed to dissuade Nero
from doing what he was morally and legally
entitled to do, and what any other Caesar
would have done without a moment’s hesi-
tation.

Having deposited Otho in Lusitania a
year early and for the wrong reason, Tac-
itus then plays up Poppaca, and the
lucrimas t artem adulterac, as the egger-on
of Nero against his wife and his mother.
He represents her as a pregnant mistress
insisting on marriage, hoping that his read-
ers will not know when the marriage and
birth actually occurred. Vagueness about
chronology, common in varying degrees to
all ancient historians, greatly assisted the
writing of “rhetorical”” history, that opus
oratorium maxime, as Cicero called it. But
eventually Tacitus comes to the year 62,
when Poppaea’s attitude makes sense, and
now he is in a quandary, having used up
her best arguments. He writes: Nero . .
nuptias Poppacae . .. maturare parat Octa-
uiamque coniugem amoliri, quamuis mo-
deste ageret, nomine patris et studiis populi
grauem (14 Ann. 50.5). Maturare indeed!
Has he forgotten that, according to his own
account (ibid. 1), Poppaea was hurrying
on her marriage three years previously and
that the chief obstacle, Agrippina, had been
removed for that very reason? And note
how dishonestly he conceals the true reason
for Nero’s divorce of Octavia, her failure to
give him an heir® At 60.2 he nearly gives
himself away by describing Poppaca as
diu paclex as if she were a new character.
The words he makes Poppaca utter at
618 1., quod alioquin delictum suum? . . .
an quia ueram progeniem penatibus Cae-
sarum datura sit?, are almost an exact
repetition of cur enim differri nuptias suas?
Jormam scilicet displicere et triumphales

never entertained the idea of becoming princeps
until after Nero's death. The gentlemen do protest
too much.

¥ Nero was betrothed to her at 12, married her
at 16, and stayed married for nine years. She gave
him no child and was accused of adultery. Vet
Nero was a brute, according to “history.”
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auos. an fecunditatem et uerum animum?,
supposedly delivered three years  earlier
(1.2). Only one baby is in question, and
the pregnancy must accordingly have lasted
for a period of time that entitles it to be
classified among the many prodigia of
Nero's reign so painstakingly recorded by
our historian. Tacitus again uses Poppaca
as the evil genius who talks Nero into mur-
dering a relative, but he cannot suppress
the fact that there was a bloody uprising
in favor of Octavia which that modeste
agens® lady can hardly have known nothing
about. With her name and lineage she
could have found many a man, as Agrip-
pina did, ready to rule under her matri-
archal sway if Nero could be ousted
Indeed, at least under the Caesars, there is
good ground for believing that the princi-
pate was felt to be in the gift of the distaff
side: after all Venus uictrix had been the
battlecry of Julius. Nero was acting within
his rights when, following such an insur-
rection, he relegated Octavia to an island
The only difference between her end and
Agrippina’s is that the mother committed
suicide before the banishment, the wife
aiter. But in cach case Tacitus has to make
Nero the aggressor, instead of a much shot-
at victim offering the minimal resistance,
and he can only think of Poppaea as a
likely instigatriz. Fortunately for him,
there were no more eligible females raring
t0 usurp Nero's throne, otherwise Poppaea
would have had to be wheeled creaking
on to the set, like a moulting stage property,
for yet a third time, repeating with varia-
tions her spiel about fecunditas and nuptiae.
Little wonder her child perished in four
months after such a delayed birth. Never

“Octavia was as much the ambitious matriarch
as Agrippina. The plot of her brother-in-law
Sulla was one of the most dangerous Nero had to
face. Only the fact that he was not with his
escort, which Sulls hired bravos smashed up,
and returned o the Palace by an unusual route,
saved him. And yet he contented himseli with
& Sulla to Marseilles. His clementia was a
ry real thing
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since Alemena’s delivery of Heracles can
parturition have been so lengthily pro-
tracted for dynastic reasons.

Tacitus’ story of Agrippina’s last hours
i, as we have demonstrated, chronologically
impossible, but equally we noted that the
scenes in it are so vivid and unforgettable,
so seemingly “real,” that posterity has un-
hesitatingly accepted them as authentic,
to the exclusion of the flawless but dry
official version. We think we can account
for this. Chronological absurdity is cer-
tainly fatal to a historical record; but there
is another type of writing in which the
time factor is unimportant. It is the play.
The Atic tragedians never bothered much
about realistic timetables. In opera and
oratorio_the recitative, which looks after
the continuity, is the most dispensable part.
The reason why the death scene in the
Bauli villa is so gripping is that it is a
scene: it is a perfect piece of theatre. Start
at 8.4. Bedroom with dim light—only one
ancilla in attendance—Agrippina anxiously
pacing—air of desolation—sudden noises
oif. This creates the atmosphere. At 8.5
the action begins. ‘The ancilla sneaks away
—pathetic appeal by Agrippina—enter
three grim figures—dignified speech by
Agrippina—figures gather round—one
clubs her—she expases her belly with the
words “strike here”—expires under nu-
merous wounds. (Tacitus gives her last
words as uentrem feri; comparing  this
with Octauic 368 1. we might deduce
an iambic original like qui tale monstrum
protulit uentrem feri, “strike the womb
that bore such a monster.”) The theat-
ricality of the episode is obvious. Only
on the stage do people make these neat
remarks after being clubbed on the head.
But who says “stage,” says Nero.” Sup-
pose we have here a reminiscence of one of
his stage roles. A famous scene from an-
cient tragedy leaps to the mind’s eye. Are
we witnessing the murder of Clytemnestra,
by her son Orestes? Suetonius states cate-
gorically that Orestes matricida was one of
Nero’s roles (Nero 21). This means that
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on many occasions Nero, in full view of an
audience of cultured Romans—and it was
this cultured élite who would transmit the
history—did in a special sense kil his
mother. All Tacitus had to do was to shift
this bit of true history from one area of
Nero’s life to another (as we have already
caught him doing with the pregnancy of
Poppaea) and, with a few novelettish ad-
ditions, the stage-murder becomes a_ real
act. Tt has an aura of verisimilitude that a
pure fabrication would lack, because it is
reality dismembered and recombined. The
most effective falsification relies little upon
fantasy: much better are pieces of truth
glued together to form a misleading pattern.
As Blake phrased it: “A truth that’s told
with bad intent/Beats all the lies you can
invent.” On this principle we can esplain
many things in our authors. Suetonius at
Nero 39 states that lampoons on Nero’s
matricide appeared on walls. But when?
Tacitus at 14 Ann. 13 gives the people’s
‘mood after Agrippina’s death and there was
no talk of matricide then. The grajjiti
which appeared later must refer to some-
thing else; at least no historian suggests
how the whole of Roman society was sud-
denly converted to a diametrically opposed
view of Agrippina’s demise, or by whom, or
when. What was this other thing? Nero’s
stage performances as Orestes. These were
widely known; many people saw with their
own eyes the acts recorded by Tacitus,
though not at Bauli and not in the real
world. Had they been real, ncither Tacitus
nor anyone else would ever have heard of
them: Nero would have seen to that. The
two things that puzzled us—the sharpness
with which the deeds are etched on our mem-
ories and the utter impossibility of their
having taken place—are thus simultane-
ously explained: the pictorial sharpness is
due to the original stage-setting and the
spatio-temporal_superstructure s bogus.
Those who would dispute this must give
their answer to the question: How does
Tacitus know what happened in the villa
at Bauli? Did Anicetus later repent and
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write a confession? If so, why does our
historian not quote it? And whence does
Tacitus derive his fairly minute knowledge
of the events on board the ship? The two
likeliest sources, Gallus and Acerronia, were
both killed.

We would venture upon an even bolder
speculation. Nero’s début as an actor took
place in Naples, i.c, in Campania, where
Baiae and Bauli were situated (Suet. Nero
20). Furthermore, he liked realistic masks
in his plays. “He appeared in tragedies,
taking the parts of gods or goddesses, heroes
or heroines, wearing masks modelled on his
own face or on that of his current mistress”
(21). In a play about the murder of Cly-
temnestra Nero as Orestes might wear a
mask of his own face, “Clytemnestra” a
mask of Agrippina, “Electra” one of Pop-
paea. In Sophocles’ version Orestes’ tutor
plays a significant part: he does not strike
the blow but he engineers the whole thing,
an éminence noire in the background. This
is precisely the role Tacitus allots to Ani-
cetus; and Anicetus had been Nero’s boy-
hood tutor, pueritize Nerowis educator
(Tacitus loc. cit. 3.6). At a court-gathering
in the imperial domain of Bauli, or in the
Naples theatre, an Orestes matricida was
acted, with Nero as himself in the title role,
and players looking like Poppaca, Agrip-
pina, and Anicetus, taking the parts of
Flectra, Clytemnestra, and the Tutor. The
third figure in the death scene would be
Orestes’ friend Pylades. This s the histor-
ical reality behind Tacitus’ story of Nero
murdering his mother in Campania. Gen-
eralizing this, we see how the whole anti-
Nero legend was built up. Floating and
half remembered Neroniana were wrenched
from their historical contexts and forced
into alien frames, so that the monstrous
things he did on the stage seemed to be
actual deeds. Few men have been so fa-
mous on both sides of the footlights: all
that the hostile historians had to do was
quietly to remove the footlights so that the
two worlds in which Nero moved mingled
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and flowed together Hence arises the
paradox of a prince whose reign was a
Golden Age, the friend of St. Paul and
possibly a Christian convert, who is never-
theless blackened before posterity as a
compendium of all the vices. Take that
hideous detail which haunted the imagina-
tion of the historians—it is mentioned even
by the gentle Boethius*—about Nero as-
sessing the sexual attractions of his dead
mother’s body. Historically it contradicts
the fabled incest of the pair; granting
which, Agrippina’s nakedness would be
familiar to her son. But it perfectly fits
an episode in the story of Oedipus. Stand-
ing over the body of his mother Jocasta,
who like Agrippina had died by suicide,
Ocdipus contemplates the woman whom for
over twenty years he has treated like a wife.
In the decorous tragedy of Sophocles there
is of course no sensual reminiscence; but
in the sort of scabrous libretto Nero might
use at a court revel there could well have

7 Our historians curiously resemble the young
Guardsman of Suet. Nero 21 in their inabilty to
distinguish between the stage and reality. This
young fellow sccing Nero maltreated in the part
f Hercules dashed to his rescue from the wings.
But_ the story of baby Nero and the snake in
chapter 4 is surely a reminiscence of another
stage performance of the emperor, his enactment
in swaddling-clothes of the infant Hercules stran-
gling the serpents, transferred to reality, with
Messalina substituted for Juno as the Wicked
Queen. And what of the strange story in chapter
56 of Nero urinating on a female image? Is not
this an echo of his performance as Canace
parturiens, mentioned among his roles in 217 We
can well imagine Nero, with his love of gadgetry,
producing a realistic gush of ammiotic fluid while
& doll-like creature emerged between his thighs
15 we are right, then Suetonius is as impercipient
2s his own Guardsman, and much less generous
in his impulses.

® Philosophiae consolationis liber 11, metrum
VI: matris ecjuso maduit cruore, | corpus et uisu
gelidum pererrans [ ora nom tingit lacrimis, sed
esse | censor exstincti potuit decoris. Obscrve that
Nero dripping with blood is standing next to the
body. This recalls the original stage scene: in
the histories a soldier strikes the blow, with Nero
miles away.
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been a passage like that in Wilde's Salome®
where the heroine gloats over the head of
John the Baptist on a silver salver, a pas-
sage in which Oedipus-Nero indulged a
decadent taste for necrophilia. Certain
peaple would be shocked and their sense of
moral outrage might well express itself in
pasquinades: the wit of the specimens
quoted by Suetonius, their use of the Greek.
language and of numerology, prove that
they emanated from a cultured class. It
was the revenge of the Roman nobility
whom Nero forced to act in and watch his
theatrical spectacles (Tac. 14 Ann. 14,
Suet. Nero 27). Nero was never linked
with the ideas of incest and matricide until
after his stage periormances as Oedipus
and Orestes, ie., until after 64 when he
first acted in public.

The stoty of the last days of Agrippina,
devoutly accepted as “history” to this day,
is a clumsy amalgam of three Neronian
‘happenings, his incest with his stage mother
Jocasta, his foiling of his historical mothers
plot, and his murder of his stage mother
Clytemnestra. It is easy enough to do. We
can even improve on Tacitus. In his last
appearance on the stage, says Suetonius,
Nero sang the part of Oedipus in Exile,
concluding with the verse: “Wife, mother,
father, do my death compel” (Nero 46).
Mulling over this event fifty years later
Tacitus could well have produced some-
thing like: iamque sub finem uitae Nero
uel coram populo fateri solitus traditur se
Octauiam et Agrippinam ferro, Claudium
ueneno sustulisse:  tenebris quin immo
umbras corum ante oculos suos obucrsari
adnuentibus ac uocantibus similes. Had he
done so, we may be sure, schoolboys would
be having it dinned into them as “history,”
moralists citing it as evidence of the uis

“In his Defence of Nero, 1892, E. Osborne
Fountain describes his hero as “an antique Oscar
Wilde, whom chance had made an emperor.” The
first blow for Nero in England, as far as 1 have
traced, was struck by G. H. Lewes, the lover of
George Eliot, in bis Was Nero a monster? (Corn-
hill magazine, 1863).
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conscientiae, and doctoral theses basing on
it theories about the hallucinogenic effects
of repressed guilt.

But what of that element in the tradition
which makes it such a jolly good yarn and
is perhaps most responsible for its long life?
T mean the nauigium machinosum._itsel.
That too is an authentic Neronianum.
Constructed it most certainly was, but not
at the time, nor at the place, nor for the
purpose, alleged by Tacitus. Nero loved
scientific toys and gadgets. At the height
of the Vindex-scare, when the entire West
was rumbling with revolt, he summoned the
leading citizens to his Palace, where (I
again quote Graves) “after a bricf discus-
sion of the Gallic situation he devoted the
temainder of the session to demonstrating
a completely new type of waterorgan and
explaining the mechanical complexities of
several different models” (Suet. Nero 41).
A man like this is not one from whom we
can lightly disassociate the idea of a me-
chanical boat, but it would be a toy, not a
diabolical engine, something more in the
nature of a gilded pleasure barge, such as
Cleopatra, Hadrian, and many luxurious
potentates, have built animi causa. Its true
character peeps out in the phrase nauis
ornatior used by Tacitus (c. 4.5). No
apter epithet could have been selected, for
ornare is “to equip with devices” as well as
“to decorate or embellish.” Such a vessel
would possess an elegant cabin, furnished
with a truly royal bed eminentibus pari-
etibus, and these we remember featured in
the Tacitean nauis. Now Nero's vast
Golden House, which was under construc-
tion from 64 to 68, had an ornamental lake.
We know that Nero’s engineering projects
excited the interest of later generations:
the emperor Trajan was fond of talking
about this period!® as the quinguennium

The story comes from the 4th century epi-
tomist Aurelius Victor, liber de Caesaribus S,
The phrase augende urbe maxime and quo etiam
Pontum in ius prouincise Polemonis permissi
redegit, both relating to the quinguennium, show
that it must be referred to the sixties. The an-
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Neronis, Nero's great five years, which he
admired and, as a builder himself, proposed
to emulate. This was precisely the era
when Tacitus was producing his extraordi-
nary collages of fact and fiction misnamed
historiae, and we see now why he could not
omit the nauigium machinosum: it was
much too congenial to contemporary taste.
There was a close link between Nero and
the greatest center of art and technology at
the time, Alexandria. The Middle East
interested him and there is some evidence
that if he had not been murdered by his
secretary Epaphroditus (later executed for
his crime by Domitian [Suet. Don. 14, cf.
Nero 49]), he would have spent the second
half of his life there, supporting himself by
his art, or even as King of Jerusalem:
Suet. Nero 40,47 and 57. Ever since Julius
Caesar’s visit to Alexandria, 2 momentous
event for Europe, the Egyptian city had
been strengthening its links with Italian
intellectuals. Julius himself had brought
back the mathematician Sosigenes to re-
form the calendar—the least questionable
of the great dictator’s benefits to mankind
—and thereafter the celebrated guild of
Alesandrian technicians, descendants of
Ctesibios, famed for his pressure pump,
and Heron, maker of steam engines, began
1o see in Italy the Golden Land in the West
where they could carry out research under
ideal conditions. Neronian Rome must
have possessed for them the same kind of
allure as California for European scientists
today. There they might find unlimited
resources in money and material, and an
enlightened prince who would give them
every encouragement to experiment. ~Se-
verus and Celer, the two Italians in charge

nexation of Pontus Polemoniacus was in 64
(certain from coins). Nero himself divided hi
reign into quinguennia by establishing a quin-
auennale Iudicrum in 60 (14 Awn. 20 ) and re-
peating it in 65 (16 Ann. 2). Trajan was probably
referring to the second lustrim, 60-65, when a
evmnasium, baths, macellum, the destroyed domus
transitoria, and part of the domus aurea, were
bult
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of the domus aurea project, had at their
disposal an impressive team of Oriental
artists and engineers. In 66 when the Per-
sian prince Tiridates visited Rome he asked
Nero for the loan of some of these men.
What had particularly caught his eye was
the wonderful revolving dome of the Golden
House, described by Suetonius at Nero 31,
with the somewhat inadequate comment
that it was wasteful. G. Charles-Picard, in
his Augustus and Nero (trans. Ortzen,
1966) pp. 110 f., speaks of this mechanical
‘marvel as follows: “It was evidently turned
by a powerful source of energy since a con-
siderable mass, probably of metal, had to
be moved; and it was regulated like a clock
since its rotation synchronized with the
movement of the stars. . .. As the absolute
regularity of its movement excludes the
possibility of its having been worked by
man- or animal-power, one may reasonably
assume that the axis of the hemisphere was
joined by cogs to a waterwheel driven by a
crefully regulated flow of water.” When
in the 7th century Heraclius invaded Persia
he found at Gazacas a vast temple con-
taining a spherical edifice. A Christian
chronicler states: “In this there was the
abominable idol of King Chosroes; his
image appeared on the hemispherical ceil-
ing, enthroned as if in Heaven, with, all
around him, the sun, moon and stars cir-
cling in their orbits, for these the supersti-
tious King worshipped as gods. Moreover,
by means of a certain mechanism, this en-
emy of God had so contrived it that drops
of water fell from the ceiling to imitate
rain.” This would appear to be the sprout-
ing and efflorescence of the seed sown in
the mind of Prince Tiridates when first he
cast his Oriental eye on Nero's Golden
House, and the engineers who built Chos-
roes’ temple may well have come from the
school founded on Persian soil by Nero's
ift.
" Fhe ceiling of the cabin in the nauigiun
machinosum was perhaps a_ prototype of
that which graced the circular dining hall
of the Golden House. 1t is absurd to sup-
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pose that so elaborate a mechanism had
anything to do with sinking the ship. There
is nothing recondite about building a ship
that can be scuttled, it is merely a matter
of installing seacocks. When Woodcock, in
his note ad loc., suggests that the roof was
meant to crash through the bottom of the
ship he is, if serious, simply explaining
absurdum per absurdius. Nero’s nauis was
partly at least a floating planetarium
worked by hydraulic power. It was so con-
structed that the regular passage of water
through the hull made the cabin roof re-
volve, like the Golden House dome, and
display to the occupants an image of the
heavenly bodies slowly circling, and at
intervals perhaps shower them with per-
fumed rain, manna from heaven, or the like.
Whether an icon of Nero as Apollo with a
chorus of Poppaea-like Muses was en-
throned in the center, as suggested by the
copy of Chosroes, we do not know; but we
can’ be sure that Tacitus’ phrase fectum
loci mudto plumbo graue is now correctly
explained. The lead would be part of a
system of checks and balances, necessary to
secure slow and steady rotation and an even
flow of water. Tt is not difficult either to
conjecture for whom  this ingenious toy
would be built. Tt was just the thing that
Poppaca would delight in. That bed with
its high sides was not meant for Agrippina
and Acerronia: it was meant for Nero and
Poppaea. Poppaea, a Jewess either by
blood or conversion, was famous for her
exotic and luxurious tastes. No more ap-
propriate present than such a nauis could
be imagined for a lady who bathed in
asses’ milk and popularized the (still fash-
ionable) turban form of female headdress.
The numerous experiments necessary be-
fore so unusual a vessel could be launched
would be carried out on the vast lake,
situated on the present site of the Colos-
seum, which Vespasian later filled in. But
during one of the tryouts something went
wrong. The heavy revolving roof collapsed
on the elaborate bed. Nero’s technicians
naturally peeked over the side to see what
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had gone wrong with the water sluices con-
trolling the flow. All the little things that
bewildered us in Tacitus’ account now
begin to make sense. ‘The men did not mind
rushing about, even though the boat might
heel somewhat, because there was no risk
of drowning in the shallow waters of the
artificial pool. They ran to botk sides, not
because one group was trying to correct
the list caused by the other, but because
the water was flowing through two aper-
tures, one on each side. The descending
roof killed nobody because during tryouts
the bed would have no occupants. The dif-
ficulty about the impossibility of building
such a boat without Agrippina learning of
it disappears, because it was not a lethal
engine and Agrippina had long been dead.
One now sees why Suetonius places the
collapsing-roof incident in Rome, and one
can even explain why the happening is lo-
cated in a bay, i.c., an expanse of water
with a curved shoreline, off Baiae. The
ornamental lake, says Suetonius, was like a
sea, surrounded by buildings in the form
of cities: Nero 31. Nero, like many of the
principes, loved mock sea. battles, and to
make them more realistic he would create
the illusion of a real sea and its shore. Tt is
a reasonable conjecture that one of the
dwarf cities crected at the edge would look
like Baiae, a fashionable coastal resort,
as in London the Serpentine Lido imitates
in petto the famous Venetian original.
Nero’s mechanical marvel with the collaps-
ing roof that nearly sank it in the “sea”
off “Baiae” would long be a standing joke
in Rome. Everyone would know about it,
as they certainly would not have done
about a device used by the emperor to kill
his mother at the real Baiae. Some wag of
the forum, some philosopher of the ther-
mae, bethinking himself of the accident
at sea which, through the mists of six years,
people dimly linked with Agrippina’s death,
might say as a pure joke: “Ah, that’s how
he got rid of his mother then”; whereupon
another would cap this for him with: “He’s
a born Orestes, that man—did you see him
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at the theatre the other day?” And so the
damage was done. The fragments of truth
were now in the air—collapsing roof, Ores-
tes, incest, Baiae, Oedipus, matricide, circu-
lar pool, mechanical boat—waiting, like
stills from a film, to be seized upon by Taci-
tus (or his sources), " shuifled into a new
order, and superimposed on the true his-
tory of Agrippina’s end, which he (and
they) would know perfectly well from
Nero's letter to the Senate.

We may perhaps hazard a guess as to
the date of the accident to the “gilded
barge.” The earliest document we have in
which Nero is accused of trying to drown
his mother is the jabula practexta entitled
Octauia, attributed to Seneca. On stylistic
grounds alone it cannot be the work of the
Seneca, the Stoic philosopher Lucius, Nero’s
tutor and minister, from whose polished
pen we have nine plays with which to com-
pare it; nor did anything happen between
Nero and Lucius that would justify the
bitterly hostile tone of the play.’? But
Nero did quarrel, apparently on aesthetic
grounds, with Seneca’s nephew Lucan, who

*LIn Hermes for 1960 and 1961 G. B. Townend
sheds some light on these, esp. the Elder Pliny,
promoted by Nero, who showed his gratitude by
writing of his benefactor as facs humani generis,
and Cluvius Rufus, a ragbag of Court gossip,
who never let the lure of fact tempt him from
the duty of slander, and who taught Tacitus
bis trick of switching material from one context
to another, “to point a moral or adorn a tale.”
Unaccountably, Townend scems to admire the
Poppaea-transfer of 14 Ann. 1 as adding to the
“dramatic sweep” of the narrative. So it does, but
are we dealing with a historian or with a play-
wright?

32 Seneca’s moneylending policies led to. the
revolt of Boudicca in Britain, with the loss of
80,000 lives, and that led to his eclipse, not the
seduction_of Nero by Poppaea and Tigellinus.
Nero retained his affection for his old tutor—even
in the hostile Tacitus it breathes in the fine
speech at 14 Ann, 55 f.—but the power-corrupted
old man became involved in the conspiracy of
Piso and was killed by two of his fellow-plotters,
when the game was up, lest he should reveal what
he knew. Nero was t00 late to save him, but he
saved his wife Paulina (15 Ann. 64).
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in his Bellum Ciuile passes from adulation
of the emperor to (equally insincere)
loathing. Lucan’s father Mela may well
have tried his hand at a literary attack on
Nero in sympathy with his son, and the
Octauia is just what he might produce, an
amateurish imitation of his brother’s style
but exhibiting intimate familiarity with
Nero's entourage such as none of the later
writers credited with the authorship could
have had. On this theory, too, the tradi-
tional ascription to a Seneca is not irration-
ally set aside. The argument that the
Octauia shows knowledge of events which
occurred aiter the extinction of the Senecas
fails on examination. At 596 1. Agrippina’s
ghost prophesies for Poppaea fristes rogi,
whereas in fact contrary to Roman usage
she was embalmed, nor do verses 630 f. fit
the actual circumstances of Nero's end: as
Suet. Nero 50 makes very clear, he had a
sumptuous funeral and was certainly not
desertus et destructus et cunctis egens. The
play knows all about the collapsible boat
and the use that was being made of it by
the anti-Neronians. The version that was
elaborated by Tacitus fifty years later
exists in it in germ. At 125 f. we ear of
the superba paclex as a gift for whom suam
Stygiae parentem natus inposuit rati and,
when the shipwreck failed, ferro interemit
saeuior pelagi fretis. At 955 f. Agrippina is
her son's victim funesta uiolata manu re-
‘migis ante, mox et ferro lacerata diu, which
is obviously from the same source as unum
wolnus umero excepit (5.5) and multis uol-
neribus confecta est (8.7) in Tacitus’ ac-
count. At 300 . there is  highly melodra-
matic account of the shipwreck and Agrip-
pina’s long swim. Now the author shows
knowledge of the Fire of Rome, of July 64,
at 831 f., so we have our ferminus post
quem. Mela died with his brother and son
as one of the Pisonian conspirators in the
spring of 65. Tt is fairly clear that the play
was written as propaganda for circulation
among the conspirators, perhaps to be
acted by some—there is evidence that Piso
was a tragedian (Tac. 15 Ann. 65 ad fin.).
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The excavations for the Golden House
would go smartly ahead after the Fire, and
if our theory is correct the gilded barge
suffered its mishap in the lake in early 63.
After the destruction of the prototype,
work on it was not resumed because Pop-
paea, for whom it was intended, died in the
summer or autumn of that year. The tech-
nological experience gained was utilized
for the larger dome of the domus aurea. Tn
the Octauia the disintegration of the boat
is utilized but the Tacitean refinement of
the falling ceiling is not mentioned. The
play, then, gives the primitive version of
the matricide story, arising from the first
news of the accident. As more defails
leaked out they were woven into the fabri-
cation.
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(Perusing Tacitus’ chapters on the Piso
affair we cannot escape a nagging sense of
déjd lu. Those double-agents Silvanus and
Rufus: are they not repeating the role of
Anicetus? As Prefect of the Fleet he was
an obvious choice for Otho and Agrippina,
and he was exiled later for plotting with
another matriarch, Octavia [14 Ann. 62].
Upon the arrest of Agerinus his first aim
would be to silence Agrippina. [hence nikil
cunctatus at 7.7]. Some memory of him as
a dishonest tutor may be preserved in the
seemingly punning name of such a man at
Juv. 7,218, which has never been explained:
Acoenonoetus.)
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